IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOE MILLER and ALICE MILLER

PLAINTIFFS

VERSUS

NO. 2009-CA-00435

PARKER McCURLEY PROPERTIES, L.L.C. And PARKER McCURLEY, INDIVIDUALLY

DEFENDANTS

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF JONES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

LAWRENCE E. ABERNATHY, III ATTORNEY AT LAW P. O. BOX 4177 LAUREL, MISSISSIPPI 39441 TELEPHONE (601) 649-5000 MSB

LESLIE D. ROUSSELL ATTORNEY AT LAW P. O. BOX 2940 LAUREL, MISSISSIPPI 39442 TELEPHONE (601) 426-2345 MSB

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOE MILLER and ALICE MILLER

PLAINTIFFS

VERSUS

NO. 2009-CA-00435

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issues before this Court are:

i

- Whether the lower court erred in failing to award the insurance proceeds to the Millers based on the fact that the Millers paid all of the insurance premiums and should, therefore, be entitled to the benefits of the insurance proceeds.
- Whether the lower court erred in failing to award penalties demanded by Mississippi Code § 75-17-25, for the collection of late fees, which violate the provisions of Mississippi Code § 75-17-27.
- 3. Whether the lower court erred in failing to rule that Parker McCurley violated Mississippi Code § 75-17-1(4).
- Whether the lower court erred in granting relief which was not requested by Mr. McCurley.
- 5. Whether the lower court erred in failing to award the Millers: [1] insurance benefits; [2] finance charges and [3] attorney's fees.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves the purchase of a home by Joe and Alice Miller (the Millers) from Parker McCurley (Mr. McCurley). The Complaint was filed in the Chancery Court of the Second Judicial District of Jones County, Mississippi. The Millers filed a Motion for Summary judgment requesting Mississippi Code § 75-17-25, penalties for violations of Mississippi Code § § 75-17-27, and 75-17-1(4). The lower court denied the Miller's Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion to Reconsider. Subsequently, this Court declined to hear the Miller's Petition for Interlocutory Appeal, and this case proceeded to trial. Many of the facts were submitted to the lower court as stipulations (R-70). At trial the Miller's Motion to Reconsider their Motion for Summary Judgment was again denied.

Following the trial, the lower court issued its Opinion, granting the Millers all money paid to Mr. McCurley for the purchase of the residence. The lower court then, all but, negated that award by giving Mr. McCurley a set off representing the fair rental value of the property for the period of time that the Millers lived in their home. The lower court also granted title in the property to Mr. McCurley and stated that he could keep the \$35,000.00 in insurance proceeds paid by Shelter for the loss of the property. It is from the Chancery Court's rulings that this appeal is taken.

FACTS

On September 12, 2002, Mr. Parker McCurley bought a house on 1119 North 8th Avenue, Laurel, Mississippi for \$5,500.00. (T. p. 20, lines 21-27). Fifty-one days later he sold it to Joe and Alice Miller for \$39,000.00. (T. p. 21, lines 10-19).

Mr. McCurley's home purchase contract required the Millers to pay \$3000.00 down and 300 monthly house payments of \$575.00, at a 19% rate of interest. This amortizes at \$175,500.00, not including land taxes, insurance premiums and late fees. In addition to the monthly house note, the contract also required the Millers to pay yearly land taxes, obtain homeowners insurance and stated that the bank, the seller and the buyers would be named as loss payees on the home insurance policy. (Exhibit 1).

The Millers and Mr. McCurley agreed that the Millers would pay the insurance premiums directly to Mr. McCurley and that he would purchase the insurance with the money given him by the Millers. (T. p. 46, lines 24-29, T. p.). In a clear violation of Mr. McCurley's contract, the policy on the home named only Mr. McCurley as a loss payee. (T. p. 47, lines 6-9).

On August 29, 2005, Hurricane Katrina destroyed the home. The Millers were ahead on all amounts required by the contract, including all monthly house notes, all land taxes and all insurance premiums. (Exhibits 2, 17 and ,19) (The Millers had even paid an extra \$440.91, this amount takes into consideration the 2005 pro-rated land taxes that were not then due when Hurricane Katrina hit. It appears Mr. McCurley charged the Millers twice for 2003 insurance and 2004 land taxes). (Exhibit 2-21, 2-22 and 2-36).

By August 5, 2005, before Hurricane Katrina hit, the Millers had paid Mr. McCurley \$25,415.77. (R. 71, Stipulation 19). The parties stipulated that between the inception of the contract and the date Hurricane Katrina destroyed the home, the Millers owed Mr. McCurley:

\$19,550.00 3,000.00 1,014.50 <u>1,508.27</u> \$25,072.77

 \checkmark

Principal and Interest (R. 71, Stipulation 18) Down-payment (R. 71, Stipulation 10) Insurance from 2002-2005 (R. 71, Stip. 11, 13, 15 and 17) Taxes for 2002-2004 (R. 71, Stip. 12, 14 and 16)

The parties stipulated that by August 5, 2005, the Millers had paid Mr. McCurley \$25,415.77. (R. 71, stipulation 19). The Millers also made another \$575.00 house payment, on the property located on 1119 North 8th Avenue, on September 30, 2009, after Hurricane Katrina destroyed the residence. (Exhibit 2-43). Adding these amounts together shows the Millers actually paid a total of \$25,990.77 to Mr. McCurley.

Shelter Insurance paid the policy limits of \$35,000.00 to Mr. McCurley, on or about September 27, 2005. (T. p. 50, lines 1-6). Mr. McCurley brokered the insurance policy and he had either forgotten or decided not to list the Millers as a loss payee. Either way, McCurley's home purchase agreement required that Mr. McCurley, the bank and the Millers be listed as loss payees. (Exhibit 1)

Mr. McCurley put the \$35,000.00, in his checking account. (T. p. 49, lines 2-9). He did not repair the home. (T. p. 55, lines 7-8). He did not credit the \$35,000.00 against any principal the Millers owed on the home. (T. p. 52, lines 21-29). He did not give the \$35,000,00 to the Millers. (T. p. 49, lines 1-9). He did not pay off the lienholder. (T. p. 55, lines 9-12). He put it in his pocket and went on with his life. The property at 1119 North 8th avenue has never been repaired and four years later the Millers still have no home.

During the course of the contract, Mr. McCurley charged the Millers four separate late fees. These late fees violated § 75-17-27 in that they were (1) charged too early, (2) charged in excessive amounts (which the defendant admitted on the

record (T. p. 141, lines 22-29; p159, lines 7-9). and (3) charged on a single alleged installment more than once. Further, the contract violated § 75-17-1(4), because the rate of interest charged by Mr. McCurley was 19% when the statute forbids an amount over 10% on residential real estate.

From the contract's inception, the Millers paid every payment to Mr. McCurley in cash. (T. p. 32, lines 10-13). Mr. McCurley made the determination as to how each payment was applied. (T. p. 32, lines 6-9). Each receipt issued to the Millers by Mr. McCurley from April of 2005, through August of 2005, showed that there was no balance remaining due after the monthly payment. (Exhibits 2-28 through 2-42). The total amount represented by the receipts from the inception of the contract until Hurricane Katrina destroyed the home, August 29, 2005, was \$25,415.77. The last receipt dated September 30, 2005 (Exhibit 2-43) is a \$575.00 payment made after the home was destroyed, and is in addition to the \$25,415.77 mentioned above. This payment was for the house note on 1119 North 8th Avenue, Laurel, Mississippi, and tends to establish the fact that the Millers, even though they could no longer live in the home, were still paying their house note.

Mr. McCurley purchased a home, in a depressed market, for \$5,500.00, primarily due to "white flight." Within a few weeks, he sold the home to the Millers, for \$39,000.00. Within about three years he collected over \$25,000.00, from the Millers, including taxes, excessive late fees and insurance premiums. When the Miller's home was destroyed by Hurricane Katrina, he pocketed an additional \$35,000.00 in insurance proceeds which left the Millers with nothing, not even a deed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The Millers paid the insurance premium and should receive the insurance proceeds

1. A The Millers paid every penny of the insurance premiums to Mr.

McCurley. (T. p. 82, lines 21-26). In spite of this fact, when Shelter paid the insurance proceeds for the total loss of their home to Mr. McCurley, he put the money in his pocket. He did not credit the Millers' account. He did not pay the lienholder. He did not repair the home. When the Millers paid the premium to Mr. McCurley he became either the insurance agent or the insurer according to Mississippi Code § 83-17-1 and supporting Mississippi case law.

1. B. By failing to repair the home, or give the Millers the insurance money so that they could make the home liveable. Mr. McCurley has committed waste by letting the home deteriorate for which he should be required to cure.

2.

Each late fee charged Violated Mississippi Code § 75-17-27

Mr. McCurley charged the Millers a \$50.00 late fee on four separate occasions. Each late fee was: [1] contracted for [2] collected before it was due; [3] in an excessive amount and [4] charged on the same alleged delinquent amount more that once. These are four separate violations of Mississippi Code § 75-17-27. The contract between the parties provided for a \$575.00 that payment that was due on the 1st day of each month, and if a payment was not received prior to 5:00 p.m. on the 6th day of the month, a \$50.00 late fee would be assessed. Further, three of the four late fees were charged using the same alleged delinquent installment. This contractual provision violates **Mississippi Code § 75-17-27**, which provides that a **4%** late fee may be assessed only if a payment is **more than 15 days past due** and that a late fee may only be assessed **once on a delinquent amount**.

3. Mississippi Code § 75-17-25 establishes penalties for improper assessment of late fees

If an improper late fee is stipulated for or received, the penalty states that, "all interest and finance charges shall be forfeited, and may be recovered back."

The mere fact that Mr. McCurley contracted for an excessive late fee entitles the Millers to the penalties set out in § 75-17-25. Additional violations of § 75-17-27 occurred when the late fees were actually collected in an improper manner. In this case, the lower court declined to rule that Mr. McCurley had violated Mississippi Code § 75-17-27 and refused to award the penalties provided for by Mississippi Code § 75-17-25. This is even after Mr. McCurley's counsel stated, on the record, twice, that his client had violated the statute by charging too much in late fees. (T. p. 141, line 22-29, p. 142, lines 1-2; p. 159, lines 7-9). Mr. McCurley also admits that his contract violates the law (§ 75-17-27) concerning the charging of late fees. (T. p. 72, lines 8-11). Either of these admissions should result in the imposition of § 75-17-25, penalties.

4. Interest cap on RESIDENTIAL real estate is 10%

Mississippi Code § 75-17-1(4) provides that the interest rate for any residential real estate financing will be limited to 10% per annum, or 5% above the

discount rate. The discount rate was not over 5% during the time period complained of herein, therefore, the interest rate at issue could not exceed 10%. (Exhibit 13).

Despite the fact that Mississippi Code § 75-17-1(4) limits the interest rate to be charged on *residential real estate* transactions to 10%, Mr. McCurley's contract provided for, and the Millers paid a 19% finance charge.

5. Mississippi Code § 75-17-25 provides penalties for improper assessment of interest and finance charges

Like the penalties for improper late fees, if excessive interest and finance charges are contracted for **or** received, Mississippi Code § 75-17-25 states the all "finance charges shall be forfeited, and may be recovered back whether the contract be executed or executory."

6. <u>The lower court should not grant relief not requested</u>

The lower court, awarded Mr. McCurley unrequested relief against the Millers. Mr. McCurley did not file a counterclaim nor did he request that the court grant him a setoff of any kind. The lower court opined that the Millers should receive the money they had paid Mr. McCurley but then gave Mr. McCurley an unrequested setoff of the rental value of the home, for the time the Millers occupied their residence. In addition, the lower court also granted Mr. McCurley an additional windfall of the \$35,000.00 insurance proceeds.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE 1: WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO AWARD THE INSURANCE PROCEEDS TO THE MILLERS BASED ON THE FACT THAT THE MILLERS PAID ALL OF THE INSURANCE PREMIUMS AND SHOULD, THEREFORE, BE ENTITLED TO THE BENEFITS OF THE INSURANCE PROCEEDS.

1. A. The Millers paid their premium and should receive the insurance proceeds

The Millers, by agreement with Mr. McCurley, paid the insurance premiums to Mr. McCurley prior to the destruction of their home (T. p. 46, lines 24-26). Mr. McCurley offered to obtain insurance for the Millers, they just had to pay the premiums (T. p. 106, lines 3-14). The Millers paid the premiums to Mr. McCurley, but he never had them listed as loss payees/beneficiaries under the policy (Exhibit 7). It is important to remember that Mr. McCurley's contract required the Millers to obtain insurance on the property and stated that: "Bank and Seller shall be named as loss payee(s) along with the Buyer(s)" (Exhibit 1). However, once the home was destroyed, the Millers got no benefit for their premium payments. The Millers are in the shoes of intended beneficiaries, or at a very minimum, intended third-party beneficiaries under the policy.

Parker McCurley knew the terms and conditions of his Agreement. He also knew no insurance company would issue a policy in the name of the Millers. (T. p. 43, lines 11-29, p. 46, lines 24 -29, p. 47, lines 1-22). Mr. McCurley has purchased approximately 125 such properties. Of those 125 properties, approximately 20% are homes sold to individuals, like the Millers, under similar contracts. The others are

rentals (T. p. 19, lines 17-27). Renters do not pay taxes nor insurance premiums. (T. p. 48, lines 12-21).

The Millers were approximately three years into their twenty-five year note when, on August 29, 2005, Hurricane Katrina, for all practical purposes, totally destroyed their home. The Shelter policy, purchased by Mr. McCurley, with the Miller's money, was for only \$35,000.00. (Exhibit 7). Shortly after the hurricane, Shelter insurance paid a total of \$35,000.00 to Mr. McCurley (T. P. 50, lines 16-19).

Mr. McCurley did not give the insurance proceeds to the Millers. (T. p. 106, lines 9-16; p. 107, lines 3-5). He did not apply the insurance proceeds to the Millers' indebtedness. (T. p. 54, line 29, p. 55, lines 1-6). He did not repair the home. (T. p. 49, lines 1-9). He did not pay the lienholder. (T. p. 55, lines 9-12). He put the money in his pocket and walked away. He did, however, offer the Millers a new home that they could purchase for a higher price. (T. p. 109, lines 4-15). But, he was not going to give them any credit for the \$25,415.77 they had paid him in the previous 34 months, nor was he going to apply any of the Shelter insurance money. Except, he did offer to sell the Millers a new home, giving them the equity earned during the purchase of the 1119 North 8th Avenue residence. Discounting the "new home" down payment by \$230.51.

1B. Case law addressing § 83-17-1, makes McCurley the agent

Case law addressing § 83-17-1 has held, since at least 1930, that if one other than an insurance agent agrees to purchase insurance for another, he becomes the agent for the procurement of insurance. *See Citizens Bank v. Frazier*, 127 So. 716. In that case, a bank agreed to keep cotton which was covered by trust deeds insured up

to the aggregate amounts of the loans. The bank failed in its duty and the Court ruled that the bank's obligation to the borrower regarding the procurement of insurance was that of an agent.

The case of *Sullivan v. Riley*, 558 So.2d 830, dealt with an Administratrix who purchased an insurance policy on a home owned by herself and her brothers and sisters, after the death of their parents. When the home was destroyed by fire, the Administratrix took the position that she had purchased the policy and was entitled to the insurance proceeds.

The *Sullivan* Court affirmed the Chancellor's ruling that the co-tenants were entitled to division of the insurance proceeds. The Administratrix had insured the property for its full value. The Administratrix held funds belonging to the estate, though she could not testify what funds were used to pay the premium, and the co-tenants were led to believe that the home was insured, even though they may not have been told that the insurance was for the benefit of all heirs.

Here, there is no question that the Millers paid the entire insurance premium to Parker McCurley. When Parker McCurley accepted premiums from the Millers, he became their agent for the procurement of insurance.

1C. Case law construing § 83-17-1<u>,</u> alternatively makes Mr. McCurley the insurer

2

In the alternative, when Mr. McCurley accepted insurance premiums from the Millers, he became their insurer. In the case of *Hancock Bank v. Travis*, 580 So.2d 727, this Court held that a mortgage lender which agreed to procure credit disability insurance for a borrower and failed to do so assumed the position of insurer and thus the risk of loss. In the *Hancock Bank* case, the bank did not even collect the premium. Nevertheless, it agreed to procure insurance for Mr. Travis and the Court held that because it failed to procure such insurance, it became the insurer.

In the case of *Prince v. Louisville Municipal School District*, 741 So.2d 207, the Louisville School District purchased a medical policy to cover students who might be injured during school sponsored activities. It is important to note that in the *Prince* case, the school district paid the premium. This Court ruled that even though the school district was not liable for the injuries, Prince was an intended third party beneficiary under the policy. This Court allowed the case against the school district's insurer to proceed. While the facts of this case are different, the concept is the same. In this case, the Millers did not sue the insurer, simply because the insurer paid the amount it owed.

The Millers were ahead on their house note. At the time of the hurricane, the amortization schedule shows that the balance due on the Millers mortgage was \$35,769.49. (Exhibit 11). Parker McCurley could have taken the entire \$35,000.00, applied it to the house note, and delivered clear title to the property to the Millers, free of any lien. That did not happen.

Parker McCurley did not give the Millers credit for the amount collected from the insurer. Nor did he pay the lienholder, nor did he repair the home. Now the home has been exposed to the elements for four years and has deteriorated due to water, rain, insects, mold and rot.

ι

1D. As the agent or insurer for the Millers, Mr. McCurley owed a duty of good faith and fair dealing to the Millers.

Mr. McCurley breached this duty by failing to adequately insure the home, failing to live up to his part of the contract and by failing to deal fairly and in economic good faith with Millers. The home was woefully under insured. If anyone should be required to bear the burden of Mr. McCurley's negligence, it should be Mr. McCurley, not the Millers. The home was only insured for \$35,000.00. This amount is obviously insufficient in that Shelter's own internal estimate listed the complete cost of home repairs at over \$55,000.00 (Exhibit 9).

1E. Mr. McCurley has caused waste to the property which he should be required to cure

Mr. McCurley's actions have caused this home to deteriorate so that now it will cost much more than the estimated \$55,031.98, to repair. Should this Court award the property and insurance proceeds to the Millers, Mr. McCurley should be required to pay the difference between the actual cost of repair and the original estimate to repair, subject to the payment of the balance of the note. Mr. McCurley should be required to forfeit his option to retain the insurance benefits and should be required to deliver the insurance proceeds to the Millers.

ISSUE 2: WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO AWARD PENALTIES DEMANDED BY MISSISSIPPI CODE § 75-17-25, FOR THE COLLECTION OF LATE FEES, WHICH VIOLATE THE PROVISIONS OF MISSISSIPPI CODE § 75-17-27

2A. Each late fee charged Violated Mississippi Code § 75-17-27

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