IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JOE MILLER AND ALICE MILLER

PLAINTIFFS

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-00435

PARKER MCCURLEY PROPERTIES, L.L.C. AND PARKER MCCURLEY, INDIVIDUALLY

DEFENDANTS

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF JONES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

COMBINED BRIEF OF APPELLEES AND BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

W. DAL WILLIAMSON, MSB Attorney for Appellees/Cross-Appellant Williamson & Thompson, PLLC P. O. Box 6509 Laurel, MS 39441

Phone: 601-426-0056

Fax: 601-426-0058

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JOE MILLER AND ALICE MILLER

PLAINTIFFS

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-00435

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

The Agreement did not require McCurley to pay the lienholder and did not require him to make repairs, and the Chancellor determined that from the evidence it appeared that McCurley never advised the Millers that if they tendered the remaining part of the principal, they would receive a deed; nor did it appear from the testimony that the Millers ever inquired as to the remaining amounts owed or offer the payment thereof. In the chaos that followed the first weeks after Hurricane Katrina, McCurley relocated the

Millers into another house. There were some discussions about the sale/purchase of the other house and the crediting of some amounts paid by the Millers. But when McCurley advised that the monthly payment would be higher, the Millers moved out and decided to file suit.

The inclusion of the provision in the Agreement that the buyers would purchase insurance did not entitle them to the insurance proceeds in the event of the destruction of the property. The contract was silent as to a duty to repair. The Appellants' allegation in their Brief of waste is the first time this theory has been pled or sought.

In Sections 2, 3 and 5 of the Appellants' Summary of the Argument, the Millers contend that the four late fees violated MISS. CODE ANN. §75-17-27. As the Appellee has conceded, three of the four payments did in fact exceed the late fee amounts allowed by §75-17-27. The late fees were not, however, charged before they could be charged since in each of the four instances some delinquency had existed for more than fifteen days. This statute provides that no such late payment charge shall be made "unless such deficiency is more than fifteen (15) days past due". It does not provide that a seller may not charge a late fee until after the 15th day of the month.

Neither were any of the four late fees charged on the same specific installment. In each instance that a late fee was charged, there had been several interceding monthly payments that became due between the different assessments of the late fees, and none of the late fees represented back to back late payment charges on the same specific installment.

MISS. CODE ANN. §75-17-27 provides for the maximum amount that may be charged for a late fee and provides that when the late payment charged does not exceed that maximum, then it is not to be considered a "finance charge". It follows then that any parts of the late payment charge which exceed that maximum become part of the "finance charges" defined in MISS. CODE ANN. §75-17-25. The term "finance charge," according to §75-17-25, means "the amount or rate paid or payable, directly or indirectly, by a debtor for receiving a loan or incident to or as a condition of the extension of credit, including, but not limited to, interest, brokerage fees, finance charges, loan fees, discount points, service charges, activity charges, carrying charges…."

§75-17-25 further provides:

Nothing in Section 75-17-1 or Sections 75-17-19, 75-17-21, 75-17-23, 75-17-27, 75-17-29, or 75-17-33 shall limit or restrict the manner of contracting for such financial charge, whether by way of add-on, discount or otherwise so long as the annual percentage rate does not exceed that permitted by law. If a greater finance charge than that authorized by applicable law shall be stipulated for or received in any case, all interest and finance charge shall be forfeited, and may be recovered back, whether the contract be executed or executory. (emphasis added)

The "finance charge" by definition of §75-17-25 means the amount or rate paid or payable by debtor for receiving a loan or extension of credit, and the "finance charge" includes the multiple items referenced above including "carrying charges." The forfeiture provision applies when the "finance charge," in an amount greater than that authorized by applicable law, is stipulated for or received. An excessive late fee or late payment charge becomes part of the total "finance charges." The excessive part of the late charge is computed as a part of the total "finance charge" in determining whether the

"finance charge" is greater than that authorized under the applicable law. Contrary to this logic, the Millers argue that the assessment or even the stipulation of one excessive late fee results in automatic forfeiture of all interest and finance charges.

In Section 4 of the Appellants' Summary of the Argument, the Millers contend that MISS. CODE ANN. §75-17-1(4) provides that the interest rate for "any residential real estate financing will be limited to 10% per annum, or 5% above the discount rate." A reference was made to Exhibit 13 concerning the discount rate. However, Exhibit 13 was marked for identification only and was never admitted into evidence. MISS. CODE ANN. §75-17-1(4) does not apply to the instant land sale contract for obvious reasons since there was no "loan, mortgage or advance which is secured by a lien on residential real property."

Section 6 of the Appellants' Summary of the Argument contends that the Court awarded McCurley unrequested relief. Based on equity and breach of contract, the Court in its Judgment awarded the Millers all of their payments back due to McCurley's failure to provide adequate insurance and failure to provide against contingencies in certain events. The Chancellor determined that McCurley had in essence breached his contract, and in order to do equity and avoid a forfeiture the Chancellor ordered that all of the Millers' payments be refunded to them less the reasonable fair rental rate of the property. In making the award, the Court invoked his equitable powers but determined that in fairness the value of the Millers' occupancy of the home for thirty-four months should be deducted from the damages. As will be discussed in the Argument, this was not a "set-

off' within the meaning of that term, but rather a determination by the Court as to the Millers' true measure of damages.

ARGUMENT

APPELLANTS' ISSUE 1: WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING
TO AWARD THE INSURANCE PROCEEDS TO THE
MILLERS BASED ON THE FACT THAT THE
MILLERS PAID ALL OF THE INSURANCE
PREMIUMS AND SHOULD, THEREFORE, BE
ENTITLED TO THE BENEFITS OF THE INSURANCE
PROCEEDS.

In Section 1.A. of their Argument on this issue, the Millers contend that because they paid the insurance premiums, they were entitled to the proceeds. Appellants cite no authority in support of this contention. They merely assert under this argument that McCurley did not give them the insurance proceeds; did not apply the insurance proceeds to their debt; did not repair the home; and did not pay off the lien of the bank.

In Section 1.B. and Section 1.C., they allege that under MISS. CODE ANN. §83-17-1 McCurley became the Millers' agent when McCurley secured the policy on the property, or in the alternative McCurley became the insurer when he accepted the insurance premiums from the Millers.

In Section 1.D., they argued McCurley breached his alleged duty of good faith and fair dealing by failing to adequately insure the home and instead causing the home to be woefully underinsured.

In support of these contentions they cite *Citizens Bank v. Frazier* (where a bank agreed to keep cotton insured up to the aggregate amounts of the loans); *Sullivan v. Riley* (where an Administratrix who secured an insurance on estate property claimed that she was entitled to all the proceeds after the house was destroyed by fire); *Hancock Bank v.*

Travis (where a mortgage lender had agreed to procure credit disability insurance but failed to do so); and Prince v. Louisville Municipal School District (where a school purchased a medical policy to cover students injured during school sponsored activities). These cases have little application to the facts of the instant case, and the Millers cite no authority for the contention that McCurley breached a duty of good faith and fair dealing by failing to adequately insure the home.

During the trial, the Millers failed to produce any evidence whatsoever that McCurley would have been able to procure more insurance on this property than that provided in the Shelter Insurance policy in effect at the time of Hurricane Katrina. It is true that the estimate as to the cost of repairs to the house far exceeded the amount of coverage, but there was no proof whatsoever that McCurley could have secured more insurance coverage on the house, given its age and condition, than the \$35,000.00 limit of liability provided in the Shelter Insurance policy in effect at the time of the loss.

The clause "as their interest may appear" has legal significance. In *Necaise v.*Oaktree Savings Bank, 645 So.2d 1311(Miss. 1994) citing Weems v. American Security

Insurance Company, 486 So.2d 1222, 1228 (Miss. 1986), this Court noted that in a

standard mortgage arrangement, the clause "as his interest may appear" has reference to
debts, the phrase meaning merely that the insurer will pay the mortgagee to the extent of
the mortgage. 645 So.2d at 1316. In that case there was a mortgage, and since the
outstanding balance on the mortgage was greater than the amount of insurance, the court
ruled that the mortgagee was entitled to the insurance proceeds to the extent of the debt.

Although there is no mortgage between the Millers and McCurley since their Agreement was a land sale contract, McCurley did have a mortgage with Union Planters Bank. The inclusion in the Agreement of the clause "as their interest may appear" indicates that the bank and seller were entitled to receive the insurance proceeds up to the principal balance owed to McCurley by the Millers.

McCurley secured insurance coverage for the subject house when the Millers were unable to secure such coverage. He retained the insurance proceeds since the amount of the proceeds was less than the remaining unpaid principal balance. In the chaos of the couple of months that followed Hurricane Katrina, McCurley placed the Millers in another home on Meadow Lane and there were some initial discussions regarding credit of some amounts paid by the Millers toward a purchase price on the Meadow Lane property. But by October 17th, the Millers had decided to sue since they had not received part of the insurance proceeds.

Other courts have considered the issue of the division of insurance proceeds when the property is destroyed in the midst of payments under the terms of a land sale contract. In *Martin v. Coleman*, 2001 WL 673701 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2001) there was a dispute over real property that was the subject of an installment land sale contract between the parties and over the proceeds of an insurance policy after the dwelling on the property burned. The insurance company had paid the full amount of the policy to the seller, and the question at issue was whether the proceeds received by the seller must be applied toward the purchase price. The Court of Appeals of Tennessee cited *Hillard v. Franklin*, 41 S.W.3d 106, 114 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2000):

[W]here the insured vendor has sold the property and vendee has gone into possession and paid a portion of the purchase price, but title is still held by the insured, as between the insured and the insurer, the insurer is the owner of both the legal and equitable titles to the property and entitled to recover the full amount of the policy. However, as between the vendor and the vendee, the insured takes the proceeds of insurance which exceed the amounts owed to the vendor as trustee for the vendee.

41 S.W.3d at 114.

Applying the authority cited, the Court of Appeals of Tennessee held that the proceeds collected by the seller must be applied to the purchase price in the buyer's favor. The court cited *Hillard* where it had concluded "a seller must apply insurance proceeds to the purchase price, at least where the risk of loss falls on the purchaser. The risk of loss during the period between execution of a contract from the conveyance of real property and the closing generally falls on the purchaser." 41 S.W.3d at 115.

The Martin v. Coleman court went on to say:

In this case, the contract provided that the Buyer was to maintain insurance, confirming the risk of loss would fall on her. The parties agree, as their course of conduct shows, that the Buyer would reimburse the Seller for insurance premiums. Thus, the continued acceptance of the reimbursement of payment for the insurance premiums supports the trial court's conclusion that the parties agreed Seller would maintain the policy and Buyer would pay the premiums. Therefore, any proceeds from the policy were held in trust by Seller for Buyer's benefit, and may, in the first instance be applied to the remaining balance owed to Seller under the contract. Any excess belongs to Buyer, absent other obligations owed to Seller by Buyer. If the insurance proceeds pay off the balance of the loan, the Buyer is entitled to conveyance of the real property under the contract.

2001 WL 673701 *5 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2001).

Here, there was nothing improper about the inclusion of a clause requiring insurance at the buyers' expense, and the inclusion of the phrase "as their interest may

appear" entitled McCurley to retain the insurance proceeds up to the amount necessary to pay off the debt.

The Millers have cited no authority in support of Section 1.E. of their Argument, and this Section appears to request relief that was never pled by the Plaintiffs.

APPELLANTS' ISSUE 2: WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING
TO AWARD PENALTIES DEMANDED BY
MISSISSIPPI CODE §75-17-25, FOR THE
COLLECTION OF LATE FEES, WHICH VIOLATE THE
PROVISIONS OF MISSISSIPPI CODE §75-17-27

MISS. CODE ANN. §75-17-25 provides:

A late payment charge, not exceeding Five Dollars (\$5.00) or four percent (4%) of the amount of any delinquency, whichever is greater, if contracted for in writing, shall not be considered a finance charge, but no charge shall be made unless such delinquency is more than fifteen (15) days past due; provided, however, that such late payment charge may be collected only one (1) time on a specific installment and no late payment charge may be collected on a partial payment resulting from the deduction of a late payment charge from a regular scheduled payment....

In Section 2.A., the Millers contend that a payment due on the first day of the month will not be more than 15 days past due until the 17th day of the month. They contend that McCurley's four separate late charges were charged before they were more than 15 days past due. However, §75-17-27 permits a late charge where a delinquency is more than 15 days past due. It does not require that a late charge be assessed only after the 15th day of a given month. The late charges were assessed on March 15, 2003, June 14, 2003, February 6, 2004 and April 15, 2005. The Chancellor did determine that in each instance there appeared to have been some delinquency for more than 15 days prior to the assessment of each late fee. (R. E. tab 5).

The Millers further contend that the four late fees violated §75-17-27 because a late fee can only be collected one time on a specific installment. Their contention is based upon the fact that even though the Agreement called for a \$3,000 down payment to be paid \$1,000 by November 4, 2002 and \$2,000 by February 1, 2003, on February 13, 2003 the Millers paid only \$1,500 of the \$2,000 due on February 1, 2003. They contend that this left an arrearage of \$500 and that this same arrearage continued through February 2004. In essence they claim that the first three assessments of late fees were based upon the delinquency which resulted when the Millers' second installment on the down payment was \$500 short back on February 13, 2003.

This argument ignores the fact that there were many interceding monthly payments of \$575.00 between the late fee assessments and that each time a payment was made it was applied to whatever arrearage there remained from the preceding payment.

McCurley has acknowledged that three of the four late charges were for more than 4% of the delinquency upon which the late charges were assessed. As previously mentioned, the three late charges that were greater than the statutory amount exceeded that permitted by \$78.54. In Section 2.B. of their Argument, the Millers contend that this automatically means that all interest and finance charges are forfeited.

Section 75-17-27 provides that a late payment charge not exceeding four percent (4%) of a delinquency shall not be considered a finance charge. It follows that the part of any late fee that exceeds the four percent (4%) is a part of the finance charge. It does not follow, however, the excessive late fees make the entire transaction usurious under

current Mississippi law. In Rea v. Breakers Association, Inc., 674 So.2d 496, 500 (Miss. 1996), this Court held:

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